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MR. PRESIDENT:
So, Mr. Witness, we will now open the session.  Please be careful when you answer the questions so as not to reveal your identity.  And, as we say to other witnesses, should there be any issue that could do so, then just draw our attention to that and we will find the suitable procedure to avoid that such information be disclosed.  

Mr. Rapp. 

MR. RAPP:
At this point, Your Honour, I would ask the registry to place a document that was previously admitted in evidence in this case during the testimony of Witness A, that is, Exhibit P. 223 before the witness.   This is a document that lists 11 names.  Has that document now been placed before the witness? 

MR. MATEMANGA:
Yes, Mr. President. 
WITNESS BY
first having been duly sworn,

testified as follows:
EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Witness, do you recognise the names on this document?  Witness? 

A.
Yes, Mr. President, I recognise the 11 names on this document.

Q.
And, Witness, did these individuals hold the offices that are given after their names in the organisation whose title is on top of that document?

A.
That's correct.  The posts correspond to the duties that the persons mentioned on this list performed within this organisation.

MR. RAPP:
We would ask that both of these exhibits P. 223 and P. 284, the identifying material can be kept in front of the witness so he can refer to them during the closed session by number, paragraphs or number of individuals to avoid identification.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And you meant during the open session. 

MR. RAPP:
Did I say that?  I misspoke.  During open session, of course. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Witness, do you know Théoneste Bagosora?

A.
I know Théoneste Bagosora.

Q.
Have you had personal contact with him?

A.
Yes, I have had personal contact with him. 

Q.
Was that contact before 6th April 1994?

A.
I did not establish personal contact with Mr. Bagosora before the 6th of April. 

Q.
Without getting into a great many details, because we will later, could you briefly describe the occasions for those contacts after the 6th of April 1994?

A.
After the 6th of April 1994, I had personal contacts with Mr. Bagosora in circumstances linked to a pacification tour which we were ordered to carry out by the high authorities of the MRND, together with members of the interim government.  The said contact was made for the first time at the Hôtel des Diplomates in Kigali on 12 April.  Other contacts subsequently took place, both in Kigali as well as in other places on the Rwandan national territory.

Q.
Witness, that will be sufficient now; we will get into greater detail later.  Do you know Aloys Ntabakuze?

A.
Yes, I know Aloys Ntabakuze, Mr. President. 

Q.
Have you had personal contact with him?

A.
The personal contacts which I had with Mr. Ntabakuze were made after the month of July -- that was in exile outside Rwanda -- but I knew him by face and I knew him by name.  I know him by face and by name -- by face and by name before.

Q.
Thank you very much, Mr. Witness.  Do you know Anatole Nsengiyumva?

A.
I also know Anatole Nsengiyumva, both before the 6th of April and after the 6th of April 1994.

Q.
When you say you know him, did that mean that you had personal contact with him both before 6th April 1994 and afterwards?

A.
That is correct, Mr. President. 

Q.
Could you briefly describe some of those contacts?

A.
The contacts made before the 6th of April were made in a professional context or a usual courtesy.  After the 6th of April, I had personal contacts with Anatole Nsengiyumva either in a professional context or while in exile in the context of usual personal relations.

Q.
Did you see Anatole Nsengiyumva between April 1994 and July 1994?

A.
Yes, that's correct.  I saw Mr. Anatole during that period.

Q.
And where did you see him?

A.
I saw him in Gisenyi in the chief town of Gisenyi préfecture.

Q.
Do you know Gratien Kabiligi?

A.
I know Gratien Kabiligi also.

Q.
And is that based on --

A.
I knew him a long time before the 6th of April.

Q.
And did you have personal --

A.
Mr. President, please could you kindly repeat the question? 

Q.
I will just strike the question and rephrase it.   Did you have personal contact with him after the 6th of April 1994?

A.
No, I did not have personal contact with Gratien Kabiligi after the 6th of April.  But I would like to add that I saw him on the streets of Kigali, but I did not establish any personal contact with Mr. Gratien Kabiligi.

Q.
Witness, I would like to ask a few questions about the political situation in Rwanda in the early 1990s.  When multipartyism was established in Rwanda, what political party did you choose?

A.
When multipartyism was introduced in Rwanda in 1991, I chose the MRND party.  Moreover, I had belonged to that party shortly before the advent of multiparty politics. 

Q.
Did that MRMD political party have a youth wing?

A.
Certainly.  A youth wing was attached or affiliated to that party, as moreover was the case with most major political parties that had youth wings.  So the MRND party had its youth wing like other parties, as I said.

Q.
And what was the youth wing of the MRND called?

A.
The youth wing affiliated to the MRND party was called Interahamwe za MRND. 

Q.
Witness, do you know how the Interahamwe za MRND was formed?

A.
Yes, I know how this youth movement was formed, especially as I became a member of -- I became its member very early at its inception; therefore, I am aware of how this youth wing was formed.

Q.
Witness, just one word about -- I remind you we are in open session, and obviously being a member of that youth wing in and of itself would not, since there were many members, would not disclose your identity, but please be aware we are in open session when describing anything in regard to yourself in that organisation that might reveal your identity.  

Who was behind or who organised or who was the prime mover behind the foundation of the Interahamwe za MRND?

MR. CONSTANT:
I am sorry, Witness.

In French, it was said moteur, and my colleague told me that Mr. Rapp asked who was the person.  It's not exactly the same thing that we heard in French.  Can this point be clarified, please?

MR. RAPP:
I used the point "prime mover," which I understand might have been translated as moteur in French, but I am talking about the individual or the organisation, whatever, who is behind the establishment of this group.

THE WITNESS:
Well, in that case, Mr. President, the translation moteur would be correct.  

Well, if I understand correctly -- if I understand correctly, the context in which you are using the term moteur, there was a structure behind that youth movement, and, of course, it comprised a steering committee to which was attached six conseillers, each of which chaired a commission.  Moreover, as you can see through -- from the 11 names --

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Witness, you've mentioned that it had this committee.  Let's go beyond the committee.  At the time that it was established, did the membership of the MRND, excuse me, of the Interahamwe za  MRND include people from Kigali or people from all over Rwanda?

A.
Those who made up this youth wing at its inception were mainly the inhabitants of Kigali and most of the people of Kigali Rural in the suburbs, the suburbs that make up Kigali town.  Therefore, to answer your question precisely, you did not have in this youth wing people who came from outside the préfecture of Kigali or Kigali Rural.

Q.
Witness, just so we can know about our timing here, when was the inception of the Interahamwe za MRND?

A.
The creation of this youth movement, that is the Interahamwe za MRND, took place during the last quarter of 1991.  Thereafter, the movement became established through its organs which, moreover, stayed the same from the beginning to the end.  Therefore, the inception of this movement occurred during the last quarter of 1991, that is, from October to December 1991, Mr. President. 

Q.
Witness, you indicated that at its inception, the Interahamwe was -- the membership was concentrated almost exclusively in Kigali and Kigali rural.  Did there come a time when the Interahamwe was organised to draw membership from throughout Rwanda?

A.
That is indeed the case, Mr. President.  And this was in line with the MRND party policy which wanted to see this youth movement spread throughout the national territory because, in fact, the MRND party was represented throughout the country at that time.  It was therefore necessary for the youth movement or the youth wing as well to spread throughout the national territory.

Q.
When approximately was it organised out in the préfectures outside Kigali and Kigali rural?

A.
In fact, since the beginning of 1992 practically, the leaders, the top leaders of the MRND party, requested that committee to provide -- to provide some inspiration to the young people of the MRND ‑‑ of the Interahamwe and -- to enable them to cover the whole country.  This took place during the first and second quarter of 1992.  And from then on, the entire country was covered by the Interahamwe movement which represented the MRND both in Kigali and elsewhere.

Q.
Did the national committee of the Interahamwe have control over the Interahamwe in the préfectures outside Kigali?

A.
The philosophy was such that the youth movement in every administrative district had to come under the local authority of the party to which it was affiliated;  therefore, the so-called national committee only had control over its area of jurisdiction in Kigali, and the other youth wings or branches in the prefectures always had to refer to the -- to the local authority of the party so as not to violate the ideals of the party, which had to be monitored by the local authority who reported to the chief authority at the national level.  Therefore, the so-called national committee of the Interahamwe  in Kigali, as you have its composition here, only had control over its members in Kigali.

Q.
And what was the chief authority that the local parties reported to at the national -- that the local Interahamwe reported to at the -- through their local party at the national level?

A.
Please, could you kindly repeat the question, Counsel?  There are some nuances that I did not quite understand.

MR. CONSTANT:
I didn't understand the question.  

Mr. President, I didn't understand my colleague's question, especially in light of the answer that has just been given.

MR. RAPP:
Yes. The question related to the fact that the witness referred to the fact that there was a chief authority to whom the local parties responded, and I wanted to ask him what was that chief authority at the national level.

MR. CONSTANT:
Objection.  Objection, because what I understood from the witness's answer is that he was saying that there was no national authority, that each organisation of the Interahamwe came under a local authority; therefore, there was no national authority.  He even said that regarding what was referred to as a national committee; in fact, that committee only met in Kigali.  So I still do not understand the meaning of my colleague's question in light of the answer given by the witness. 
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MR. PRESIDENT:
There is some lack of clarity here.  Can you assist us with your question, Mr. Rapp?  Are you referring to the central level or the local level?

MR. RAPP:
We're referring to the central level.  The witness, in his previous answer, said that from the préfectures they responded to a chief authority nationally, but that was not the national committee of the Interahamwe.  If it wasn't, who was it?

MR. PRESIDENT:
You see, that's where we haven't understood the answer the way you do.  That's our problem. 

Mr. Witness, we had this national committee of the Interahamwe centrally placed in Kigali, isn't that so? 

THE WITNESS:
I would like to repeat that when the so-called, and I repeat so-called, national committee was formed and which committee was led by the founding members; that is, the senior leaders of MRND, that is, Mr. Ngirumpatse, Mathieu, the Kigali committee had its jurisdiction within the préfecture, but it was always under the authority of the national secretary and the national chairman of the MRND party in the person of Mr. Mathieu Ngirumpatse.  That is the nuance which I wanted to grasp regarding the question raised the other time.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Let me just follow-up on that because we were then talking about the Interahamwe.  In the préfectures outside Kigali, you indicated that they were established by their local MRND préfectural committees, but who had control of those local MRND préfectural committees?

A.
Mr. President, perhaps I will need to repeat what I just said.  At the level of each préfecture and at the level of each commune, there were local committees of the Interahamwe youth wing which were answerable to the local authorities of the party, that was at préfectural level.  For the préfecture of Kigali, the local committee was answerable to the president of the Interahamwe at Kigali and at two ‑‑ and also to the founder, who was Mr. Mathieu Ngirumpatse, the president of MRND and, at a given point, he caused conflict of jurisdiction between the leaders who wanted to assert leadership.  There was some friction within the management of the structure at Kigali.  I hope, Mr. President, that I have shared light on this point which was actually the subject of an organisation chart for things to be clearer.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Let's move on because you have provided organisation charts.  When it was formed and when it, the national -- or, excuse me, the Interahamwe's MRND was formed, what was the purpose of that organisation?

A.
Mr. President, the objective of that organisation, just as the objectives of any other party youth wing, was to support the ideals of the party and, in this particular case, the MRND party which for a long time had reigned in Rwanda as a single party, needed some reformation, needed some young blood.  That was the initial objective of the youth wing, but unfortunately, as is the case with any human endeavour, there is usually a deviation from the initial objective, and that youth wing, just as the youth wings of other parties, actually strayed from the initial objectives.  So the initial objectives were to bring in ideals, to bring in new blood to the party. 

Q.
Witness, you've mentioned this deviation or change that occurred.  Let's get to that.  Let's describe the evolution, in your own words, of the Interahamwe as MRND from its inception, let's say, on or into the latter part of 1993.

A.
This was the situation, Mr. President, with the evolution of the domestic policy with the multiparty system at the time in Rwanda.  The Rwandan government was in an armed conflict with the RPF.  The evolution of the domestic political landscape changed and, every time, the parties were obliged to adapt to their policies and speeches to the prevailing contexts.  Accordingly, the Interahamwe's MRND youth wing, from a given point in time, was in a situation of violent conflict and confrontation with the other youth wings of the other opposition parties, which were abiding by the policies of their party leaders, mindful of the political context at the time.  And it went on until 1993 and still under the context of the revolution of the Arusha agreement, which tried to shed light on all that concerns power and army between the various parties.  This, in a nutshell, was the context under which the MRND youth wing was led to stray from its initial objectives.

Q.
Well, Witness, you mentioned violence with the other political parties as being part of what occurred during this evolution.  Would you describe any of the incidents or characteristics of that violence?

A.
Well, Mr. President, the opposition parties, which had before the MRND set up their own youth wings, did everything to decry and hamper and through one policy known as Ukubohoza which literally means to free themselves from the MRND yoke.  Ukubohoza which meant, actually, trying to impose their own authority as opposition parties in such a way that the MRND party had to defend itself, and also had to confront the other youth wings, and this culminated in violence.  

Let me explain.  I will give you an incident to substantiate this point.  And this was an incident which occurred during the weekend of the Pentecost in 1992 when opposition parties, which had come together in an alliance known as the forces for change -- the democratic forces for change, within which alliance were the MDR party, which was the leading opposition party, the PL party, that's the liberal party, the PSD, the Parti socio-démocratique, came together and formed an alliance and decided to meet the RPF which had taken up arms against the Rwandan government, and they made a joint statement to the effect that they hide common viewpoints regarding all the political problems prevailing in Rwanda.  Let me recall that when the RPF attacked Rwanda, it actually had as main opposition the MRND party, so this alliance, bringing together the RPF and the opposition parties which had come together in the democratic forces for change, automatically became an adversary of the MRND just as was the RPF, and they signed a joint statement which was sent out and it became an official communiqué, even at international level.  And, by the way, the meeting was held at Brussels, I think, towards the end of May or early June 1992.  And it was at that time that the youth wings affiliated to those political parties, openly declared themselves as adversaries of the MRND, and its youth wing which was the Interahamwe's MRND.  And that is how, whenever there was any incidents under the Ukubahoza, the youth wings decided to indulge themselves in violent acts, not only in Kigali, but violent acts which spread out to the entire country, and this was really the false start of the multiparty system, and it is what I referred to a while ago as the division from the initial ideals.  Not only were, then, the Interahmawe's MRND, but I can dare to say that it was a tit for tat because the opposition party youth wings also decided to indulge themselves in what was not the initial objective.  And this was even evidenced by the alliances which were formed by the fractions, schisms within the parties, the splits within the parties, what I referred to as the deviation from the initial noble ideals, not only within the Interahamwe's MRND, but within the other opposition parties.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Witness, let's just -- you've talked about violence that occurred between the youth groups of the parties and you've singled out this weekend of Pentecost in 1992.  Would you go on to describe what happened with the Interahamwe in 1993?  What did the organisation become in 1993?

A.
In 1993, allow me to talk about two distinct periods which I deem necessary to shed light on.  During the first six months of the year 1993, the situation was characterised by demonstrations, counter‑demonstrations, riots, counter-riots, either organised by parties which were in favour of or those which were against the Arusha Accords that had just been signed.  And also certain protocols of what the accords would become in August 1993 were signed, but the MRND party was not in favour of these protocols and the party, the MRND and its youth wing, actually demonstrated violently against these agreements. 

Now, the second six months of 1993, that is from June, July 1993, as part of that evolution which -- I am sorry, I will have to qualify as unhealthy evolution in the political and economic situation of Rwanda, and the leaders of that youth wing went on armed training, military training.  And in the final analysis, they were armed.  That is what I will refer to as “the clashes” and the evolution, which (unintelligible) in military training and in the distribution of weapons in the year 1993, and even part of the year of 1994, especially after the signing of the Arusha Accords, which accords were castigated and criticised by many parties.  And the parties which were not in favour of the Arusha Accords really went closer to the MRND and its youth thing.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Witness, let's go on to talk about this military training.  Do you know who was responsible for obtaining the training for the Interahamwe?

A.
Naturally, it was the Rwandan army.  The minister was a member of the MRND, conducted the training for the members of the Interahamwe's MRND.

Q.
Do you know who in the military supported the training of the Interahamwe? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Objection, Mr. President.  The witness did not make any distinction, he said "the army", so I do not see the purport of my colleague's question.  Otherwise, prior to that, he should lay the foundation.  In the answer the witness said it was the Rwandan army and the ministry was a member of the MRND, so I object to that question.

MR. ERLINDER:
I also have an objection, Mr. President, but it's on slightly different grounds.  This calls for speculation on the part of the witness at this point.  If there's an evidentiary foundation laid with respect to what this witness saw, who he saw, what he heard, he could, perhaps, offer some sort of conclusion but, at this point, it's merely a shot in the dark and pure speculation on the part of the witness. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
The witness has so far given a general answer now.  More specific information is sought. 

Mr. Witness, do you know whether any particular individuals engaged themselves in this process within the army?

THE WITNESS:
Thank you, Mr. President.  A while ago when I made reference to the army, I was talking about the Rwandan Armed Forces because up until that time there was a single national army, and that was the Rwandan Armed Forces composed of the gendarmerie and the police and the regular soldiers of the army.  And at the time they were clashing with the RPF, which was an armed force, but which was not yet in Rwanda.  So when I was talking about the army, I was talking about the Rwandan Armed Forces.  That said, the minister of defence was a ministry which, within the coalition government headed by the opposition parties, or the parties of the coalition, the minister of defence belonged to the MRND party, and while it would be said that army cadres do not belong to political parties, most of those cadres supported the MRND which was being attacked by the RPF.  Therefore, most army cadres, most MRND ministers within the government, clamoured for a policy to arm the population so that they would be able to efficiently arm themselves against the RPF.  This is for a better understanding.  But the army cadres, the senior army officials within the ministry of defence -- I will mention the minister of the army at the time, Mr. Augustin Bizimana.  I will mention Colonel Bagosora who was the chef de cabinet of that ministry.  I will mention Colonel Anatole Nsengiyumva, who was very much in favour of those trainings.  And I will mention to you somebody who at the time was one of the senior officials of the Presidential Guard, Mr. Leonard Nkundiye.  I will also mention Colonel Baransaritse, who was in the parachute camp of the Colonel Mayuya camp at Kanombe.  And there were many of them, even the deceased chief of staff, General Déogratias Nsabimana.  So, if you want to know, these are some of the names of the people who were very much in favour of such training.  And during one of our meetings, when some of our members raised the security issue, the highest officials of the MRND, notably Mr. Mathieu Ngirumpatse, who was the permanent moderator of the Interahamwe meetings which were held every evening at Kigali, provided an answer to the security question raised, and he said that the army which we support will be responsible for that.  So these are some of the examples which I can mention to you concerning that issue.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
And now you mentioned a few names and we know all of them, maybe, with the exception of the person whose name was Leonard.  Can you repeat that name, please, the last name? 

THE WITNESS:
He was called Leonard Nkundiye, Mr. President.  And, if you want, I can spell it.  N-K-U-N-D-I-Y-E, Nkundiye, Leonard.  Thank you, Mr. President.

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Just a quick clarification.  You said meetings every evening.  Did you mean -- was there something omitted from that?  Were they every evening or every particular -- certain day in the evening? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, the witness said something.  I agree that there is some sort of contradiction compared with the previous testimony, but I think that my learned friend is exaggerating if he wants to correct the errors of the witness.  I think he should look at a subtler way of doing that.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you get the question, Mr. Witness?  We want to find out what you meant with “every evening”. 

THE WITNESS:
(No interpretation)
MR. PRESIDENT:
We didn't understand that.  Can you assist us, please?

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, I talked about meetings on Wednesday in the evening.  Every Wednesday, in the evening, meetings were held after 5:00 p.m, so I think after 5:00 p.m., that is the early evening.  That is what I referred to as Wednesday evening -- every Wednesday in the evening.

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Sorry, Witness, we had lost that part of your answer and that's why we sought clarification. 

Witness, who was trained?  Who received this military training?

A.
Members of the youth wing who in Kigali were organised and structured in neighbourhoods or in secteurs, depending on the settlements and also depending on the structure of the MRND; elements who were selected and who were fit to meet the criteria for the training, and this criteria concerned age, body build, and also the availability of the elements.  It also concerned the former army reservists who already knew how to handle weapons and could, therefore, lead their colleagues through.  Therefore, the people were selected from most of the neighbourhoods and secteurs in Kigali.  And they underwent such trainings in various military camps. 

Q.
Do you know what military camps they were trained in?

A.
I can mention the Bigogwe military camp.  I can mention the Bugesera military camp.  I can mention the training sessions at the Gishwate forest.  I can mention the Nyungwe forest training, and there are quite a few others, Mr. President. 

Q.
Were members of other youth groups, besides the Interahamwe, trained in this programme?

A.
I talked to you a while ago about the tit for tat response.  When the Interahamwe members raised security problems within their respective neighbourhoods, they were actually talking about members of the opposition parties, especially the youth wings of the PSD party, the Parti socio-démocratique who went for military training at Mulindi, that was a region which had been conquered and stated to the RPF, and it was public knowledge that the RPF recruited members from the youth wing of the opposition parties within Rwanda, and these members were trained, then sent back within the population, and they were known as the infiltrants (phonetic).  So the youth wing members of the Interahamwe raised the issues of the security and they made these problems known to the leaders of the political party, the MRND, and these leaders need to provide a solution to this problem.  And one of these solutions was to train our youths.  

I would also tell you that it was very difficult for us in our meetings to make a distinction between the youth wings of the CDR known as Impuzamugambis who sometimes wore the caps of Interahamwe, and these members were also trained as part of the Interahamwe training exercise.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  Do you know what the trainees learned during this programme?

A.
There were some of these people who were led to the training by the president of the Interahamwe and by a person whose name appears at No. 6 on the list.  Do you wish for me to tell you the names of the Interhamwes involved if it means anything to you?  There was someone such as Bekos (phonetic), Bariyanga --

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
There was a disruption of the sound, Mr. President.

THE WITNESS:
-- and then there was Ruhara and many others.  And I should add that I do not know all the names, all the surnames of the several Interahamwe leaders in Kigali but, nevertheless, these leaders of the Interahamwes led contingents to training, and then they would come back and take others, so on and so forth.
BY MR. RAPP:
Q.
Witness, you may have misunderstood the question.  I wanted to know what they were taught, what was the programme of instruction at this training, if you know what it was.
MR. ERLINDER:
Mr. President, again, this is speculation unless we establish a foundation.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, we will now have ten minutes' break, the question will then be whether you have any knowledge about what the training programmes included.  

Now we will have ten minutes. 

Mr. Constant. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, we have scheduling problems.  Are we going to work this afternoon, and up to when?  The question was raised yesterday and we were waiting for your return?

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.  There is a meeting in another case concerning judgement deliberation at two o'clock, so we have to stop at 1:00 today, just for clarity. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Perfect, Mr. President.  Can you ask the witness very specifically not to discuss the testimony with anybody and, in particular, Mr. Tremblay who is the representative of the prosecution (sic) in Brussels ‑‑ Mr. André.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Well, Mr. Witness, I'm sure you have been briefed about this, but just for sake of good order, no witness will ever discuss his testimony while he is on the witness stand.  So that is the general instruction.  We will now have the break. 
(Court recessed from 1135H to 1150H)
MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Rapp. 

MR. RAPP:
Thank you, Your Honour. 

BY MR. RAPP:
Q.
Witness, when we broke I was asking you, I believe, what they were taught at the training, if you know.  And, obviously, you don't answer if you don't know, but do you know what they were taught at the training? 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
There is no sound from Brussels, Mr. President. 

THE WITNESS:
-- the throwing of grenades, disassembling --

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, you have to repeat your answer and start again from the beginning, please, because in the beginning we had no sound.  So if you would please take it all over again from the very start. 

THE WITNESS:
Given that I did not personally follow this training, I was saying that on the basis of what I heard from those who underwent that training, the programme generally involved weapons handling, shooting, cleaning of weapons and the throwing of grenades, dismantling and reassembly, safety of the grenades and then the laying of traps. 
BY MR. RAPP:
Q.
Thank you, Witness.  You mentioned earlier at the time that you spoke of training, you also referred to them receiving arms.  What arms did members of the Interahamwe receive during this time period of 1993?

A.
The weapons that were distributed in 1993 and the first quarter of '94, mainly concerned G-3 rifles.  And I personally received one of those and also some R-4 rifles. 

Q.
Let me ask you: do you know who arranged for the Interahamwe to receive those weapons?

A.
Can you please repeat your question?  I did not fully understand.
Q.
Do you know who arranged -- who arranged for the Interahamwe to receive those weapons?

A.
With regard to the year 1993 and a part of the first quarter of '94, Mr. Mathieu Ngirumpatse handed over weapons to Kassim Turatsinze Abubakar and other weapons to Robert Kajuga who, in turn, distributed the weapons in the various neighbourhoods.  By the way, I personally received a G‑3 weapon, but which I did not keep for very long. 

Q.
And what did you do with that G-3 weapon?

A.
I gave the weapon to the RTLM.  And I was a part of this institution also; that is, within the context of the setting up of the structures of this company and which needed it for the protection of its -- some of its premises.

Q.
Do you know how many weapons were distributed in Kigali during this period as part of this distribution?

A.
Mr. President, one of the persons who distributed the weapons told me about 696 rifles.  Other people who accused them -- accused him of having diverted some of these guns were talking about 750 others made up -- talked about 800 but, personally, this person talked to me about 900 -- 696 guns distributed to the Interahamwes.

Q.
Just because we had some confusion in numbers there, you indicated he said 696 weapons were distributed.  Who was this individual who told you this?

A.
I'm talking about Mr. Kassim Abubakar Turatsinze from whom I received the G-3 weapon.  And he was one of those who carried out the distribution of the weapons and who was one of the leaders of the Kigali Interahamwes.

Q.
And, just to be clear, because we talked about a larger number and an accusation of diversion of the weapons, what do you know about what the total number available was, and what do you know about any allegations that some of them were diverted?

A.
After a period of about two weeks, after receiving the weapon from Turatsinze, Kassim, he came back to see me, he was very worried and pleading with me to return the weapon to him so that he should be able to prove to the officers of the Presidential Guard, who had been accusing him of diverting the weapons, and those weapons had not reached all the people to whom they were (unintelligible).  I told him that, unfortunately, I could not be of any help to him because I had effectively given that weapon over to the RTLM.  That is what I can tell you regarding the allegations of diversion of which he was accused. 
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MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, this number 696 rifles, was that the total number, according to your knowledge, of weapons being distributed to the Kigali Interahamwe in this period?

THE WITNESS:
I gave you a figure which in fact was given to me by that person who participated in the distribution, that is, 696.  That is what he told me.  However, thereafter, other persons said that there were 750 guns, others even said 800, and so on and so forth.  I hope I have clarified this issue, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes, we heard you say that, but our problem now is to understand this issue of deviation.  We haven't understood that based on what you've said so far.  We've heard one episode where one person came to you and said that he wanted a gun back because the Presidential Guard was angry with him, but we haven't really understood what was meant by deviation.  Can we explain it at a more general level instead of simply by way of an episode? 

THE WITNESS:
From what I understood when the weapons were distributed, those who provided them, that is, the Rwandan armed forces, had to ensure that the operation had been carried out at -- in a proper manner.  But given that Kassim was accused of not having done his work properly, he wanted to provide evidence that the weapons had reached the persons for whom they were destined, but he was accused of having sold these weapons to the Burundi rebels or Frodebu and Palipehutu, that is, he was accused of having diverted and sold off part of this weapons consignment. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
And do you know whether that allegation --

THE WITNESS:
That is why it was said that these weapons had been sold to the Burundi rebels at that time, Frodebu and Palipehutu.  Those were the accusations against him following what those people told me.  And this person ended up fleeing the country.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And do you know whether those accusations were true? 

THE WITNESS:
On the basis of my experience, Mr. President, on the 12th of April, 1994, I personally, with some of my colleagues of the MRND Interahamwes, that is, the (By order of the Court, this word has been extracted and filed under seal) of this youth wing, I personally participated in the distribution of weapons.  And a short time before that, we had carried out a mission assigned to us by government authorities, that is, to visit the roadblocks manned by the Interahamwes who had been frequently requesting weapons to be distributed to them.  The weapons had been promised to them, and they knew some have been -- had been distributed but had not been given to them.  So from that point of view, I think this allegation was partially true, because under threat, this person fled the country in the face of those who were accusing him.

I was finally convinced to support that point of view, to agree with that point of view of the diversion of weapons. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
So coming back to the question asked to you a couple of minutes ago, was then the real number distributed 696? 

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, I would like to repeat that from the information I received about this person who participated in the distribution of the weapons, he told me that 696 rifles had been distributed during this period in '93 and the first month of '94.

On the other hand, I would mention another quantity of weapons, and I was a witness of their approximative number, but on the basis of your question, this did -- this does not concern the period that we were referring to.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

MR. RAPP:
Thank you, Mr. President.  I -- first of all, just on the record, the particular word (By order of the Court, this word has been extracted and filed under seal) that was used in the witness's answer obviously is quite identifying, and it's okay that he be a part of a large organisation, but to be that specific I think runs the risk of identifying him, so I would ask that that word (By order of the Court, this word has been extracted and filed under seal) be removed from the public transcript and from the tape delay of the audio of this -- of this interrogation or examination. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes, so that's ordered.  If you would kindly ensure, court video system, that that part of the transmission is not being sent out, and it will be placed under seal. 

MR. RAPP:
Thank you, Mr. President.

The other --

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Just to be clear, Witness, because you've told us that the 696 number came from Mr. Turatsinze, but you've told us that one arm was distributed to you, do you know from other information whether other arms reached the Interahamwe from this distribution in late 1993 or early 1994? 

A.
Thank you, Mr. President.  I was talking to you about my source of -- that is one of the distribution -- one of the persons who distributed the weapons, Mr. Kassim Turatsinze.  However, the president of the Interahamwe committee, the MRND Interahamwe committee, also during that period carried out distribution.  But regarding that, I cannot talk of any specific knowledge, any specific personal knowledge of the number of weapons which might have been distributed, because I did not personally -- was (sic) directly aware of that distribution, even though I was a witness to distribution during the first two weeks of the month of April 1994. 

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  Let's move on just a little.  Earlier you talked to us about the evolution of the Interahamwe from its foundation at the end of 1991, and I think you'd reached 1993 and had mentioned changes between the first and second half of 1993.

Let's go to the first quarter of 1994.  How would you characterise the Interahamwe in the first quarter of 1994? 

A.
During the first quarter of 1994, the political situation in Rwanda was extremely tense, that is, at the political level, the military situation, and also the implementation of the Arusha Accords.  There was a deadlock.  There was also tension because a contingent of the RPF, one of the belligerents against the Rwandan army was Barrett (phonetic) in the capital, and the situation was also extremely tense because there were politically-motivated murders that were being perpetrated.  There were statements, there were alliances and splits and factions of the party belonging to the forces democratique de changement and the -- and the RPR.  There were splits.  Then the parties in favour of the Arusha agreements came into alliance, as well as their youth wings.

So the situation was very tense.  There were accusations against each other.  There was confrontation and violence, which had reached a climax, and the climate, the situation, was very, very noxious.  That was the context in which Rwanda found itself during this first quarter, in spite of the presence of the UN forces, and the situation remained tense. 

The disarmament that had been planned was not carried out.  There was extreme tension, and there was confrontation between the youth wings, which accused themselves.  The RPF was accusing the Interahamwes, but excuse me for saying that, but there were those who were most to be feared within this context, and this is how I can describe the situation during this first quarter of '94.

There were no longer any cabinet meetings.  There were accusations.  MRND was accused of blocking the implication of the Arusha agreements.  The president wanted to overcome this obstacle.  The RPF was accusing him of blocking the situation.  So everybody was accusing everybody else, and we were practically almost in a situation of civil war, but -- which was reflected in the confrontations and some ethnic-based disturbances, but which had been at a lesser scale than during this first quarter of '94. 

Q.
Well, in the first quarter of '94, you speak of confrontations and ethnic-based conflicts.  Who did the Interahamwe view as the enemy to be confronted in the first quarter of 1994? 

A.
Mr. President, one cannot be exhaustive enough regarding the, the political belligerent climate of that time.  The RPF accused the MRND of all faults.  The MRND, in its turn, which comprised most of Hutu -- comprised most of the Hutu, the RPF was assimilated with all that was Tutsi, and those who supported them.  Therefore, at the end of 1992, beginning of 1993, whenever there was a violation of the ceasefire that was signed between the belligerent parties and whenever there was a violation of the ceasefire by the RPF for one reason or another, the Tutsi ethnic group was accused and was taken to task.  So there was already this ethnic tension.

The Tutsis were considered like the RPF, just like the young people who belonged to the parties that supported the RPF and in fact who recruited and trained the young people in the areas occupied by the RPF, that is, the northern part of the Rwandan territory.

Political opponents, that is also including their youth wings, who were in favour of the Arusha Accords, which they considered that balanced, the Tutsi ethnic group to which was assimilated -- or which was assimilated, which was identified with the enemy, was considered by the Interahamwe, by the parties to which they were affiliated, whose speeches, moreover, in speeches were not to make the situation better.  There was disinformation -- misinformation, both by the newspapers and the radios, and because of this situation, the Hutu ethnic group was against the RPF, and some other Hutus were considered pro-Tutsi who wanted to conquer power by all means, including the use of arms.  Therefore, in this context, parties which then supported the RPF and which were in favour of the change, who were -- who formed the opposition political parties I mentioned, split and joined the MRND, and, of course, they took along with them their youth wings.

So you have a split with some parties on the one side and other parties on the other side.  The enemy was identified as the RPF, those who had infiltrated the country on behalf of the RPF, and of course the battalions which were inside the country and which were accused of continuing to infiltrate their elements to the capital, the Tutsi who, rightly or wrongly, were accused of supporting the RPF, these were the people who were, in short -- who, in short, were considered by the MRND and the other parties who described themselves as power wings, these were the people -- or rather, these parties considered the RPF as the enemy, and all those who supported them, even if they were Hutus, and in general, the Tutsi who were naturally supposed to support their friends, both politically and through the use of force. 

This is a brief summary of this unhealthy situation which prevailed at that time.  The international community is a witness to that situation and could, if necessary, speak to that situation.  Everyone expected everything, and especially the worst.  I thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  You've mentioned this general identification of the enemy.  Was anything done by the Interahamwe to specifically identify enemy individuals? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Objection, Mr. President.  I do not understand the question.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
The witness is still speaking.  Defence counsel and the witness are speaking at the same time. 

MR. CONSTANT:
I did not understand my colleague's question.  That is what I'm objecting to.  My colleague has already asked the question.  The witness gave a lengthy answer, and he's asking the same question.  Is he asking for specific information?  I did not quite understand the question.  Mr. President, I would like the -- either the question to be rephrased or to be asked otherwise. 

MR. RAPP:
Your Honour, we got the general information.  Now I'm asking specifics. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Describe, Witness, how the enemy was generally identified.  I wanted to ask you whether the Interahamwe identified specific individuals as the enemy during this time period.

A.
I thank you.  I talked of meetings or rallies which took place on Wednesdays involving the leaders of the MRND and, in particular, Mr. Ngirumpatse, Mathieu, who made comments on past meetings or sometimes also announced meetings, weekend meetings.

Now, in regard to the situation that prevailed in the country, given the political and military context, the various members raised questions relating to security, their security in the various neighbourhoods.  They felt threatened by precisely stating that in their respective neighbourhoods, they saw people who, at some point in time, had disappeared, in other words, who had left to undergo military training in the RPF military base in Mulindi and then return to their respective families.  They provoked the Interahamwe by telling them that, well, this time we'll see who is stronger.

Now, these people were part of our concern in the various meetings, and it is in this regard that I'm telling you that the leaders of the party said that that problem would be solved.  It was requested that those people prepare lists of those people who had undergone training in the various neighbourhoods, also list of unknown persons which they had seen in their neighbourhoods, the families that hosted them, who was for and who was against the MRND. 

Lists were therefore prepared, and those lists were, in most cases, sent to the bureau of the MRND, the standing bureau of the MRND in Kigali, and it was requested that those lists be given to the local leaders of the MRND party in the various neighbourhoods.

In a more concise manner, this is how the enemy was identified, who supported the enemy, who hosted the enemy, who was unknown in the neighbourhood, who had newly, who had newly arrived in the neighbourhood.  This was a more precise manner in which the enemies, the infiltrators and those who supported them or those who housed them, were identified.  I thank you, Mr. President.

Q.
Witness, after 6 April 1994, did the Interahamwe in Kigali do anything about those individuals that were on these lists? 
A.
After the announcement of the attack against the president -- the plane of President Habyarimana and the death of all its occupants, that is, those who were on board that plane, what happened, happened.

Earlier on I talked to you about the tense atmosphere, the extremely tense atmosphere which characterised or which marked the population, not only the population of Kigali but, of course, all the people of Rwanda, but to a lesser extent the killings, the massacres which were triggered off.

The killings, killings occurred; therefore, people thought, "Well, everybody should save their skin.  It's either the enemy or us who will prevail."  It was said that the enemy had officially declared war and killings ensued.  I think everyone knows what happened.  I do not need to comment on this.

So, the Interahamwe, who were the target, so to speak, of the RPF, felt targeted, and it was therefore a run against time.  Killings started, and the press talked about these killings as early as possible -- as soon as it started.  I think it's unnecessary for me to dwell on those killings.

So, the Interahamwe set up roadblocks.  They proceeded with the elimination of the enemy --

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness.

THE WITNESS:
-- or whoever they considered as the enemy.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Hold on, please.  Please hold on for the moment. 

Now, the question was very specific.  It can be formulated in this way:  Do you know whether the lists drawn up before 6 April were used afterwards?  Do you have any knowledge about this?  That's the gist of the question. 

THE WITNESS:
This is exactly what happened, Mr. President.  It is on the basis of those lists.  It is on the basis of the fact that those people were known, that is, the people in the neighbourhoods, those who hosted them and those who were considered as infiltrators on the said lists.  It is on that basis that eliminations were carried out.  And in fact, the entire Tutsi population of Kigali was included in those lists, neighbourhood after neighbourhood.  This is unfortunate, Mr. President. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  Did you see evidence of this killing? 

A.
Could you kindly repeat the question, please? 

MR. PRESIDENT:
And the question is still linked to the lists. 

MR. RAPP:
Yes.

MR. PRESIDENT:
More generally, about killings. 

MR. RAPP:
Let me be plain, because I intend to -- I intend to broaden it beyond the lists, and perhaps, Your Honour, I should clarify. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Witness, a moment ago you said that all of the Tutsis of Kigali were viewed to be on the lists.  I don't want to misstate your answer, but were they on the list originally or were they more or less added to the list?  What is your response?  Perhaps I'm seeking too much clarification. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Objection. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yeah.

MR. CONSTANT:
My colleague is suggesting an answer to the witness, because the witness defined, at least in an earlier question relating to the list.  And later on when he was asked a question on the killings, it is true that he said that all the Tutsi in Kigali were concerned, but he never said that the Tutsis were on the list, that all the Tutsis were on the list.  He never said that.  Therefore, I have the impression that my colleague is asking a question to suggest a new answer to the witness -- the witness, which will correspond to what he wants, because the witness has clearly defined who was on the list, not in the last answer but in the earlier answer, namely, how precisely the enemy was identified.

So I'm objecting to my colleague's -- my learned colleague's question, because his earlier question was, "Did you witness any of such killings?"  I have no problem with that.  But the new question that he has just asked is of concern, is a matter of concern to me in view of the fact that the witness has already answered that question. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
So you are now being asked questions after the 6th of April, Mr. Witness, and we want to go step by step.  And the first question is, do you see any evidence of killing which showed that persons on lists, previously having been drawn up, were targeted after 6th of April?  That's the first question, and then Mr. Rapp will ask you a more general question afterwards. 

THE WITNESS:
I told you how the lists were prepared.  I also talked to you on how -- or, rather, who was seen as an enemy, how they were identified and listed.  It is precisely those persons who were eliminated during the killings, the killings of 6 April.

Sometimes Interahamwe even went beyond, they went beyond the people on the list by settling personal scores between various people.  They went beyond the list, as I said.  They went beyond the elimination of those who were seen as the enemies to settle personal scores.  I thank you, 
Mr. President. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Witness, what did you see on the streets of Kigali in the period after April 6th? 

A.
To be more precise, from the 8th of April I was in the streets of Kigali, and there were unbearable scenes.  People were killed; corpses were piling up in the gutters.  All the roads, major and secondary roads, were strewn with corpses.  I would not want to dwell on this matter, but this is what I saw in almost all the roads on which I was, and I went -- I was on many roads from the 8th of April.  I thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Well, how would you characterise the victims whose bodies you saw on the streets of Kigali from the 8th of April, 1994, and into the days that followed? 

A.
I saw corpses of human beings, corpses of men, women, the elderly, children.  I seldom saw, unfortunately, the corpses of the enemy in uniform.  Perhaps amongst those corpses were the corpses of infiltrators which did not wear uniforms, I would want to accept that, but I saw more than what could really be considered by us as being the enemy as they could be identified.  A child of four years?  A woman -- a pregnant woman does not bear arms. 

These are the many things that I saw, which unfortunately I encouraged.  It is indescribable, Mr. President.  There were thousands and thousands of corpses on the streets during a time lapse of two weeks, tippers that were picking up corpses. 

The interim government knows something about that because that government made us carry out a mission which was not an easy mission and which, moreover, did not succeed. 

Those who took photographs can testify to what I am saying.  The corpses, the number of corpses increased as we were told that the RPF was doing worse than we were doing.  This is what I was able to see, at least in the neighbourhoods of Kigali that I was able to visit.  I do not want to mention what I did not see on the other side, that is, beyond the neighbourhoods of Kigali, where we were told that the RPF was also carrying out mass killings.  I thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Witness, you just told us a few moments ago that you were encouraging the killings at the roadblocks.  As one who was encouraging the killings, I just want you to  --

MR. ERLINDER:
Mr. President, I'm sorry.  That is a bit of a distortion.  There was no mention of roadblocks in what this witness said, so I think that if we rephrase that with the elimination of roadblocks, it will be accurate. 

MR. RAPP:
I certainly didn't want to limit it to roadblocks, Your Honours. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
You were encouraging the killings in Kigali.  Witness, as one who was doing that encouraging, could you give us some idea of the relationship between the people that had been on these lists and the people that were, in fact, killed after 6 April 1994? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Objection, Mr. President. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
Mr. Constant raised an objection.

MR. CONSTANT:
If I understood the question as translated in French, my colleague wants to know the link between those who were on the list and those who were killed.  That is what I think I heard.  If indeed that is the question, I would like to point out that the question -- the witness has already answered that question because he said that those who were on the list were killed by the Interahamwe, even that the Interahamwe went beyond the people who were on the list.  That is what I understood from the witness's answer.  So, I do not understand that question, which I object to.

MR. RAPP:
And --

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, you said that you encouraged killings.  What did you mean by that? 

THE WITNESS:
What I meant by that is that when, in the political and military climate which prevailed at the time when the -- both parties identified their enemy, and if you were designated as an enemy -- and when I left, in fact it was with a view to see the advantage enjoyed by any of the belligerents.  Was it my camp that had the advantage? 

At the roadblocks, at the roadblocks which were set up you could not encourage that the person you identified as an enemy be eliminated before you yourself were eliminated (sic).  This is what I meant when I said that we, the Interahamwe, we could not but encourage the elimination of those whom we considered as the enemy.  We had to eliminate them because they -- before they eliminated us, because we, too, were viewed by the other people as their enemies.  I thank you, Mr. President. 
And perhaps I should add that when I say that we went beyond what normally was considered as an enemy, we never prepared lists.  We never thought that old people of 80 years, old women of 85 years or children of three years or children in the state of a foetus, we never thought that those could be enemies.  And that is what I meant when I said that we went beyond what could be objectively considered as an enemy, beyond those who could objectively be considered as an enemy.  I thank you, Mr. President. 

JUDGE REDDY:
Witness, you described the killings on the streets of Kigali very graphically, and you said you encouraged the killings.  Could you tell us what you said or did to encourage the killings? 

THE WITNESS:
By encouraging -- well, I do not know.  When you say, "Well done.  We have won.  Congratulations.  What are your problems?"; the giving out of rewards, the distribution of some money, distribution of cigarettes, the giving out of beer; people present to you their problems or their needs; people tell you that this or that enemy has been eliminated. 

I think encouraging is the opposite of discouraging.  So by encouraging, I mean all measures, all steps that were not intended to dissuade people from carrying out their activities that they undertook to carry out.  Moreover, when you ask somebody to continue to track down the enemy, to block his way, I believe the appropriate term to use in such circumstances, in my humble opinion, is similar to encouraging.  I thank you, Mr. President. 

JUDGE REDDY:
Yes, thank you. 

MR. RAPP:
Thank you, Judge. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
You've mentioned the interim government asking you to do something at this time.  What, what did the interim government ask you to do and how was that communicated to you? 

A.
On the 8th of April, on the invitation of a colleague of the Interahamwe committee who had come to see me -- and he had actually come to see me because as the others had been active on the 7th in my absence, for reasons pertaining to the configuration of the neighbourhood where I resided in Kigali at the time, he came for me and he criticised me for having been inactive, whereas the others were already taking the upper hand.  I went with him and I realised that we relatively had an edge over the enemy, so we actually moved around many roadblocks, what I can refer to unfortunately as a -- some sort of lugubrious inspection.  So we did that on the 8th of April. 

On the 9th of April we went and encouraged our members.  We tried to ascertain what could be the fate our enemy was reserving for us and how we could take advantage of the state of affairs.
And on the 10th of April, the same person, the same colleague contacted me in my residence and, in the presence of my colleagues, he announced that the senior officials of the MRND, namely, my boss, Mr. Mathieu Ngirumpatse, the secretary-general Nzirorera, and other members of government who wanted to meet us so that some actions be taken to put an end to the killings.  That is how we were convened by the government. 

(By order of the Court, these words have been extracted and filed under seal) we went to the Hôtel des Diplomates where they were expecting us, and when we got there we received a message which was to the effect that we had to put an end to the killings as members of the Interahamwes' MRND.  Thank you, 
Mr. President. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I did not want to interrupt, but I think that we are almost bordering on identifying the witness here. 

MR. RAPP:
Yes.  I was going to ask that the "leading members," that that particular line be stricken from the record, the public record and the audio feed. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
And that will be done.

Mr. Witness, be careful when you answer these questions.  Don't identify yourself indirectly.  You haven't done it directly, but you have come up with a couple of hints which could assist in that process.

Next question, please. 

BY MR. RAPP:

Q.
Witness, would you, on P. 223, indicate who on that list was in attendance at the meeting convened by the interim government, by number. 

A.
The sixth name on that list attended that meeting.  The seventh name attended that meeting.  The eighth attended that meeting.  The ninth attended that meeting.  The fifth name on the list attended that meeting.  The fourth name on the list attended that meeting, also. 

Q.
And the interim government or the MRND leadership, who attended the meeting from that group? 

A.
Mr. Mathieu Ngirumpatse attended the meeting.  Mr. Joseph Nzirorera attended the meeting.  
Mr. Edouard Karemera attended the meeting.  Mr. Justin Mugenzi attended that meeting.  Other ministers were in the lobby, and they knew that we had just been assigned a mission on the 10th of April, 1994.  Thank you. 

Q.
And what were the other ministers doing there, if you know? 

A.
From their posture and the ambiance around the hotel, I think it was some sort of a meeting between the members of the government which had been formed on the eve of that day.  That is what I can inform you, because ministers were chatting with one another, they were conversing.  They greeted us, and we greeted them on our arrival.  So I had the impression that it was a break between two meetings.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Was it only members of the interim government that were meeting at the hotel? 

A.
Mr. President, the ministers whose name had just been announced on the airwaves and most of whom I knew and whom I saw them at the lobby of that hotel on that occasion, I greeted them.  We chatted, since I knew most of them.  I'd known most of them for quite a while.  So, Mr. President, if need be, I can give you the names of some of those people whose names I remember.  Thank you. 

Q.
That won't be necessary.  In this meeting that was convened with the smaller group that you gave us the names of, what were you asked to do? 

A.
Mr. President, this is what happened:  We got to the lobby, and, as usual, we greeted the MRND leadership present there, the party chairman, Mr. Mathieu Ngirumpatse, and in short, the group that I just made mention of.  And in a very amicable manner but in some sort of a reproachful way, 
Mr. Mathieu Ngirumpatse spoke to us.  He said, "But you others, you do not have enough control over your members.  They kill people and expose corpses by the roadside, and everybody can see those corpses.  So, you do not have control over your people."  And he continued by saying that we have the international community breathing on our back, and the international community is accusing us of being responsible for the killings, and they do not want to recognise us, so everything should be done to put an end to the killings.

And I remember very well that Mr. Mugenzi continued by saying, "But you people, instead of killing the Tutsis who are worth killing, instead of killing the major Tutsis, the important Tutsis, you go on killing the poor people, whereas the real enemy is hiding at the Hôtel des Mille Collines." 

And in order to object to that, we said, yes, it is true that something should be done, but, you know, alas, we need resources.  And that is how we discussed on the provision of resources and discussing about something which, for us, was very sensitive, very delicate.  We discussed about the feasibility of complying with those instructions, and in about -- strategies were mapped out in that connection.  We had a meeting with those four persons whose names I just mentioned. 

Q.
Now, you mentioned that you needed resources or some assistance to do this mission.  What did you ask for specifically? 

A.
Around the table where we sat, Mr. Ngirumpatse, Mathieu, asked us whether the other members -- where the other members were, namely, in number one on the list of page 2; 23, the number 2, the number 3, the number 10, and the number 11. 

So we told him that unfortunately, we had learnt that the number 11 had apparently been liquidated by the RPF, and that we did not have any word from number 10.  And that for extreme circumstances, the number 2 was unavoidably absent because he had lost all his family members in the killings, and that number 2 lived in a neighbourhood which was not easily accessible from where we were, so we were not able to contact him. 

So we told him that in any case, we were going to do something, but that we needed resources.  And under the circumstances, we needed an armed escort to prove to everybody that we had been empowered by the government and the senior authorities of the country so that we will not be considered as infiltrators, people who were defending another cause than combatting the enemy, fighting the enemy.

So to sum up, Mr. Nzirorera, while discussing the issue, could secure from his military friends an armed escort for us to enable us to comply with our mission, and we were fully understanding of the purpose of the mission, but we considered it very delicate and sensitive.  So this, in a nutshell, was what we requested as logistics and resources in order to attempt to do something.  And we, indeed, carried out the mission from the afternoon of the 10th, but we effectively started from the 11th moving around all the roadblocks with the armed escort, right up to the 12th of April, 1994.

So this, in a nutshell, is how we made concrete the request that had been put to us by our leadership of the MRND and the minister, one minister of the Parti libéral which, on behalf of the government, was being accused of not doing anything and which was being castigated by the international community.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

Q.
Witness, let me just be clear.  What were you specifically asked to do on the mission? 

MR. CONSTANT:
I object, Mr. President.  He answered that.  He said, "To do everything to put an end to the killings." 

THE WITNESS:
To be more specific, we were asked to tell those who manned the roadblocks to put an immediate end to the killings because the international community was breathing at our backs.  And more specifically, we were told to tell our members to pick up all the corpses from areas which were accessible by vehicles in order to pick up the corpses so as to ensure public hygiene.  And concerning the recalcitrant members, we were told that the recalcitrant members would have to answer for their acts, and they were liable to the legal provisions in force.  We were also informed that those recalcitrant members will be controlled, and there will be a second inspection carried out by the members of the interim government. 

So this, more specifically, was the content of our mission.  And of course, under those circumstances, we agreed to immediately and as often as possible report on our activities.  So that is what I can say more specifically about the content of the assignment given us in what I refer to as the so-called pacification mission.  Thank you, Mr. President.  
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Q.
Were you asked to dismantle the roadblocks?

A.
If that had been our assignment, I am certain that we would have requested much more logistical assistance and association of stiffer measures like the army and gendarmerie for such a mission, but for what I just defined more specifically, it is clear that we could not have been asked to dismantle the roadblocks because they knew that within our resources it would have been impossible.  So that was not the purpose of our mission.  Unfortunately, for that -- we did not meet its objectives for that reason. 

Q.
One final question for today.  We are at one o'clock.

A.
Thank you, Mr. President.

Q.
Were you asked to disarm the killers?

MR. CONSTANT:
Objection, what killers are you talking about?

Mr. President -- I am sorry, Witness, I am objecting.  

What killers is the Prosecutor referring to without having laid the foundation?  I object to the formulation of the question my learned friend is asking.  I mean, he could ask if you were asked to disarm the people who would man the roadblocks, for instance. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
So that's the question  --

MR. ERLINDER:
More formally, it is leading. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
So that's the question.  Can you answer that, Mr. Witness?  Were you asked to disarm the persons at the roadblock?

THE WITNESS:
Indeed, we never received any mandate to dismantle the roadblock, to have the roadblock dismantled or to disarm because, as I just explained, that it was impossible for us to carry out such a mission because it was not under our jurisdiction.  And if that had been our mission, rest assured that I would have made mention of it to you.  Thank you, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you very much, Mr. Witness.  We will now break for the day and meet again on Monday morning, nine o'clock Arusha time.  We thank those in Brussels for being willing to start so early in the morning.  And please don't discuss your testimony with anyone.  

Is there -- and this will mark the end of the connection with Brussels for the day.  I thank you up there for having assisted.  There may be some housekeeping matters here in Arusha that we will deal with in a couple of minutes without the need for Brussels being involved.  Thank you. 

MS. BERNADO-MENDEZ:
Thank you. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
I understand, first, that -- and that is to the Prosecution -- that there are no other Prosecution witnesses in Arusha now.  So we will continue with this witness on Monday and the time that is needed.  That's how I understand it.  

Are there any other issues that need to be addressed before we leave each other for the weekend, it being understood that we will have a status conference some time towards the end of next week to discuss our future, and we will do that not on Wednesday the 14th of July but next week so that we have time to do that. 

Apart from that, what else may be raised now, if anything?

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, thank you for the news about the status conference.  I don't have any question at that level.  But I have understood that the Prosecution does not have any witness in Arusha, but is it possible for we to have some guidelines, those who are scheduled so that we can organise ourselves?  You know, during the weekends we try to share our responsibilities in our teams.  Can we have some estimates?  Can some ideas be mooted?  I have been made to understand that Reyntjens is not coming.  Is Nowrojee still in line?  Do we have some factual witnesses, Mr. President, for instance?

Mr. President, do I understand that you care for our Sunday rest?  I need to discuss with my client on Sunday, and I would like to contact the UNDF people, if you can help us in that connection, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes, please make sure that the Defence, if they need to, are given the possibility to discuss with their clients during the weekend.  

Mr. -- Mrs. Mulvaney. 

MS. MULVANEY:
Mr. President, Your Honours, on the witness status, it's a little up in the air.  We have DF, Benaifer Nowrojee, possibly ABQ, and those are the ones I know of -- and Beaudoin, which is -- he's coming next -- when? -- who will testify Thursday.  But as to the other ones, we are not firmed up on the times.  DF was having some problems making the arrangements to come down, and he will not be here until the 7th because the expert report Ms. Nowrojee was scheduled for that last week.  We are not sure how that's being to work out, whether it will be DF that goes up or Ms. Nowrojee.  We are really not sure at this point.

One other small issue.  Does the Court -- a lot of us -- this is a very housekeeping matter.  A lot of people are making arrangements to go see their families, and now I am talking about staff.  They are making arrangements.  This has been some discussion about the fall session.  I have been trying to follow the other courts' calendars, such as Seromba and Simba to try to figure out and to try to guess when we will be going back into session in the fall.  And a lot of us have a lot of things we need to take of, and so the sooner we can get that information the better. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
That's exactly why we need a status conference next week. 

MR. ERLINDER:
Mr. President, two small matters that we need not resolve today, but I would like to make sure that we note them.  One is, we have an exhibit that we did not move into evidence, which is the transcript of three witnesses from the Semanza trial.  I can give you the names of the witnesses; I don't have the dates.  But the witnesses were VF, VAO and Pierre Duclos, ITCR (sic) investigator.  And just so it doesn't skip our minds, I am hoping that we can just assign numbers to them. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you.  And the second issue? 

MR. ERLINDER:
The second issue is a disclosure matter that we raised in your absence regarding protected witness statements and reports of Pierre Duclos having to do with the events in and around Ruhanga, which was the subject of DCH's testimony.  And it's our assertion that evidence has exculpatory -- that information is exculpatory for the Defence and we would be requesting it.  So that was an issue we raised with the Judges in your absence. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you for raising these matters with us.  

On reflection and having consulted with the colleagues, it seems preferable that the court starts at 8:45 on Monday morning.  We will then clarify your two points and have it done by nine o'clock when the witness joins us from Brussels.  If there is --

MR. WHITE:
If it please the Court, just on that last point, the Prosecutor has filed some written submissions with respect to the disclosability or not regarding that last issue, and they have been filed today. 

MR. ERLINDER:
And when we get them, Mr. President, we request leave to be able to respond.  So we will try and do that before 8:45 so we can have it all before the Court. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
That is noted.  

Mr. Constant. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, on the calendar, I would like the Prosecutor to know that if DF cannot arrive before the 7th, I don't know the time it will take for you to prep him.  I don't know when he is going to appear.  If we have to go and recess on the 14th, I want to state that he is a very important witness, a single officer who will come to this trial.  Starting with the direct examination, and the cross-examinations will be extremely long.  So if we have Nowrojee and DF, if DF appears we may not be able to wrap up his cross-examination.  I just wanted the Prosecution to be aware of this while making its scheduling.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
So we note all this and then we meet again 8:45 on Monday morning.  

Thank you very much. 
(Court adjourned at 1316H)
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